35 Washington Square North

This house was built in 1840 for Hannah & Elizabeth Hodges, wealthy
sisters then in their forties. It stands on the site of two earlier dwellings:
the house of Samuel Cheever, mariner, built in 1769 and removed in 1819 by
- Judge Joseph Story; and the house of blacksmith Jacob Poindexter, built in
1668 and later owned by his widow Ann, who, in September, 1§92, was

hanged as a witch. (

The 1769 Cheever house is discussed below, followed by the 1840 Hodges
house; and the 1668 Poindexter house is treated at the end.

In 1769 a house was built here as a residence and shop by Samuel Cheever,
mariner. Mr. Cheever (1738-1814), in August, 1769, purchased from his father,
Peter Cheever, a cordwainer (shoemaker), a piece of land for a house-lot at the
southeasterly corner of his father’s homestead. The lot was bounded
southeasterly 45° (two poles 18 links) on the highway (now Washington Square),
northeasterly 67’ 4” (4 poles 2 links) on “the way to the ferry” (now Winter
Street), and northwesterly and southwesterly on Peter Cheever’s own land (ED
122:64). Samuel Cheever built the house right away, for his house is listed in a
1769 recording of new houses. A mariner (sailor) in 1769, he eventually gave up
the sea and became a tanner and a merchant. He was probably a veteran of the
Revolution, and may have sailed as a privateer against British shipping (1775-
1783).

Samuel’s brother Benjamin Cheever, a tanner, lived around the corner on Winter
Street, and their tan yards adjoined, Samuel’s running back northerly along
Winter Street behind the house. The tanning business consisted of having vats in
the ground and filling the vats with baths of varying chemical compositions, in
which were soaked the hides of animals to be turned into leather. There were
several tanning operations in this neighborhood at the time, and several
ropewalks, long low buildings in which hemp was twisted into rope. The
Common, in the 1770s, was hilly and swampy, and on it stood various buildings
like the town poor-house, the gun-house, etc. It was not until 1802-1804 that the
Common was improved to its present appearance. Samuel Cheever married a
woman from Maine, and they had a son, Samuel Cheever Jr., and a daughter
Sally, who married Capt. Jonathan Beckford. Samuel Cheever died on 19 March
1814, aged 76; by his will dated 1810 (appended), he devised his homestead to
his wife Sally.



On 16 September 1819, Judge Joseph Story purchased for $2250 the Samuel
Cheever house and its land here on the corner of Winter Street and what was then
called Newbury Street. Judge Story, born and raised in Marblehead, had a
beautiful residence nearby on Winter Street, and he wished to have a view of the
Common evidently. He immediately removed the 1769 Samuel Cheever house,
and divided the ownership of the just-cleared former house-lot. To himself, he
appropriated the northwest part of the Cheever lot; to his sister, Mrs. Eliza White
(widow of Col. Joseph White Jr.), who owned the large brick house that faced on
Oliver Street and backed against the just-cleared lot, he sold (for $1250 on Oct.
25, 1819) the southeasterly part of the lot, at the corner of the two streets,
fronting 57° on Winter and 47> on “Newbury or Brown Street”, and running 71’
by Mrs. White’s house-lot, and 61° by Judge Story’s land, (ED 221:262).

At the same time, Judge Story and his sister Mrs. White agreed that neither one
would put up any buildings on either half of the just-cleared lot, and that the
written permission of the other person would be needed to have any building
constructed there; although fences, shrubbery, and fruit trees were permissible
(ED 221:262). The indenture deed also noted that the Town of Salem had
recently altered the course of “Brown or Newbury” Street and evidently taken
some of the land along the southeasterly boundary of the lot.

The prohibition against putting up buildings on either half of the lot (Story or
White) was dissolved by mutual consent on 22 July 1820 (ED 252:231). Itis not
evident that any building was erected on Mrs. White’s lot at that time or in the
next two decades. From 1819-on Mrs. Eliza Story White owned this lot in
connection with her late husband’s house (#33 W. Sq. N., also known as 2
Oliver). It was, likely, a garden or yard.

In 1830 occurred a horrifying crime that destroyed several families in the old
town. Old Capt. Joseph White, the wealthy great-uncle of Mrs. Eliza White’s
children, resided in the house now called the Gardner-Pingree house, on Essex
Street one in from the corner of “Newbury” (now Hawthorne Boulevard). One
night, intruders broke into his mansion and stabbed him to death. All of Salem
buzzed with the news that thugs had murdered Capt. White. Soon enough, it
became evident that the killers were Crowninshields and Knapps, members of
Salem’s elite class and relatives of the victim. The Knapps resided nearby on
Essex Street, near Orange, next door to a merchant named William Silsbee. The
results of the investigation and trial were very damaging to Salem and especially



to its waning merchant class. It may well have been this that persuaded Mrs.
Eliza Story White that it was time to move out of town, which she did in 1830.

On 29 March 1831 Mrs. White and her children arranged to sell their house &
land, including this lot (site, #35), to William Silsbee, the Essex Street merchant.
Mrs. White, by virtue of the 1819 deed from Judge Story (who had moved to
Cambridge in 1829), owned the #35 lot outright; and she sold it for $1000 to Mr.
Silsbee (ED 259:147). The lot ran 65’ 9” by the former Story lot, thence 72’ by
the former White lot, 39’ by Brown Street, thence 38 by the corner, thence 25’
6” by Winter Street.

Mr. Silsbee was the new owner of this corner lot and the homestead adjoining to
the west. He was a prosperous merchant whose health was evidently precarious.
He had married Mary Hodges in 1808. She was born 1789, the daughter of Capt.
Benjamin Hodges and Hannah King, of lower Essex Street. In 1831 William &
Mary Silsbee had surviving children Benjamin H., 21, William Jr., 18, John H.,
17, Mary, 14, Hannah H., 13, and Harriet E., 11. He hastened to put his new
property in trust for the benefit of his wife and children (ED 259:167, 270:164).
The trustees were his brothers, U.S. Sen. Nathaniel Silsbee and Zachariah F.
Silsbee Esq.

Mr. William Silsbee died on 15 January 1833, aged 53 years. By his will with
codicils he devised one-third of all of his property to his wife Mary. He gave a
$1500 income trust as well as cash to his sister Sarah Wellman and niece Mary
Ann Wellman, as a memento of his affection, “particularly during my sicknesses
at various periods.” The reversion of the trusts was to go to his children, who
were to have everything else. The inventory of his estate shows assets of about
$98,700, a vast sum in those days. He was in trade with Russia and Italy and
probably other parts of the world, and owned shares in trading ships and three
whaling ships; and he owned shares in cargoes and merchandise. He owned
stock in various banks, manufacturing companies, and insurance companies; and
he had made loans to a few individuals, including his wife’s sisters, Miss Hannah
Hodges (she owed $389.24) and Miss Elizabeth Hodges (she owed $444.32).

Throughout the 1830s, this corner lot remained a yard or garden for the house of
Mrs. Mary (Hodges) Silsbee, who continued to raise her children in the big brick
house to the west. Mrs. Silsbee was close to her unmarried sisters, Hannah and
Elizabeth Hodges, who had each inherited a fortune from their merchant father.
Hannah & Elizabeth Hodges resided together in the 1830s, in the family house on



Essex Street. Then, evidently in 1839, they moved to 34 Chestnut Street, where
they resided with their dear friend Miss Sally L. Allen.

Between the spring of 1840 and the spring of 1841, it was agreed that Hannah &
Elizabeth Hodges should build a new house adjoining easterly on their sister Mrs.
Mary Silsbee’s house. The corner lot thus became a house-lot, and a new house
was built, in a style nearly identical to that of Mrs. Silsbee’s house. Only the
frontispiece (front entry porch) was different, in that it was Greek in its
proportions. By 1840 in Salem, all new houses were being built in the Greek
Revival style (modified “temple” appearance), so the fact that this house was
built to replicate an earlier style shows that the Hodges sisters were united in their
approach to the architecture of the new building, and determined to make the
double-house arrangement a harmonious composition.

The valuations of 1840, 1841, and 1842 tell the tale of the house’s construction.
In 1840, Hannah & Elizabeth Hodges are listed in Ward One, although they
reside at 34 Chestnut Street; each has personal property worth $13,500. In 1841,
each is taxed for “half house, Brown Street, $3000,” although they are still listed
in Ward One. In 1842 they are listed in Ward Two, each taxed $2000 for half a
house.

In the 1842 Salem Directory Hannah & Elizabeth Hodges are listed at Two
Oliver Street, evidently because this house was at first considered to be part of
their sister Mary Silsbee’s house. Miss Sally Allen was listed at 34 Chestnut
Street. The next Salem Directory, for 1846, lists Hannah, Elizabeth, and Sally at
5 %2 Brown Street, which was the address of this house for many years, since the
address of 5 Brown Street was already taken by the house at the easterly corner
of Winter and Brown Street. Brown Street, also called Newbury Street for a
short time, began at Pleasant Street and ran westerly across Winter Street, and on
along to St. Peter Street.

Although there is no known eye-witness account of the building of this house,
Benjamin F. Browne, who was born in this neighborhood in 1793, recorded his
“Youthful Recollections of Salem” (1869) and referred to this house and its
predecessor, among others. In his writings (EIHC 4:3), this house is called “Miss
Hodges’s house” or “Miss Hannah Hodges’ brick house;” the house it adjoins (2
Oliver/33 Washington Sq.) was B.H. Silsbee’s; and Washington Square North
was then part of Brown Street. Referring to the area ¢. 1810, Mr. Browne wrote,
“on the western corner (site of Miss Hodges’s house) were the house and shop of
Samuel Cheever, who had a tannery in the rear, now occupied by the residence of



Robert Upton... Next to (Samuel) Cheever’s, the site of Benjamin H. Silsbee’s
house, was the dwelling house and bakery of James Wright...” Mr. Browne also
wrote, “Samuel Cheever was... a tanner, and his house was on the western corner
of Brown & Winter Streets, on the site of Miss Hannah Hodges’ brick house.

The tanyard was in the rear.” And, finally (EIHC 50:13), “Samuel Cheever’s
house and shop were round the corner, fronting on Brown Street, the site now
occupied by Miss Hannah Hodges.”

Miss Hannah & Elizabeth Hodges lived here with their friend Miss Sally Allen
through the 1840s. It did not seem necessary to secure a deed to the land, which
was owned by their sister Mrs. Silsbee. The Misses Hodges lived well, as their
investments proved sound. They were likely managed by their nephews,
Benjamin & John Silsbee, and they included shares in the new railroads which
had been built in the 1830s and 1840s. There were no investments in any
maritime enterprise at all.

Hannah and Elizabeth Hodges, born in 1794 and 1796, were the daughters of a
successful shipmaster and merchant, Capt. Benjamin Hodges (1754-1806) and
his wife Hannah King (1758-1814) and were descended from old Salem families
that had made their money in shipping.

After the Revolution (1775-1783), Salem’s merchants had pushed their ships and
cargoes into all parts of the known world. Hasket Derby, William Gray, and
Joseph Peabody were the leaders in this effort. In 1784, Derby opened trade with
Saint Petersburg, Russia; and in 1784 and 1785 he dispatched trading vessels to
Africa and China, respectively. Voyages to India soon followed, and to the Spice
Islands (Sumatra, Java, Malaya, etc.). In 1798 trade opened with Mocha, Arabia,
which supplied coffee. The size and number of vessels was increased, and by
1800 Salem was the greatest trading port in America, with some of the wealthiest
merchants. It was at this time (1792) that Salem’s first bank was founded: the
Essex Bank was followed by the Salem Bank (1803) and Merchants Bank (1811).

Salem at the turn of the 19 century, when Hannah and Elizabeth were little girls,
was growing and thriving. The town’s merchants were among the wealthiest in
the country. In Samuel McIntire, they had a local architect who could help them
realize their desires for large and beautiful homes built and decorated in the
Adamesque style. This style (called “Federal” today) had been developed years
before by the Adam brothers in England and featured fanlight doorways,
palladian windows, elongated pilasters and colurns, and large windows. It was
introduced to New England by Charles Bulfinch upon his returh from England in
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1790. The State House in Boston was his first institutional composition; and
soon Beacon Hill was being built up with handsome residences in the Bulfinch
manner.

Salem’s foreign commerce was booming in the first decade of the nineteenth
century, as was the commerce of Newburyport and even Marblehead. Salem
vessels sailed to the Caribbean and Europe—including Russia--as before, but
were opening trade to the East as well, sailing to the far side of the globe to trade
with the merchants of the Spice Islands, India, and Malaya. Salem cargoes were
exceedingly valuable. Capt. Benjamin Hodges participated fully in this trade; but
he died in April, 1806, aged 52. His surviving children were then Mary, 16,
Hannah, nine, Elizabeth, eight, and Sarah, six (she would die in 1812). He and
his wife Hannah had had nine children, but five had died before 1806, including a
very promising son, Benjamin Hodges Jr., a Harvard graduate who had died in
1804. Mrs. Hodges was left with a large and valuable estate, but small children
to raise.

The Embargo of 1808-9 suspended all trade for a year; and then came the War of
1812-1815. Sally Hodges died in 1812, aged twelve years; and then Mrs. Hannah
King Hodges died in 1814, by which time her daughter Mary had married
William Silsbee, who may have become the guardian for her younger sisters
Hannah and Elizabeth, then 18 and 16. The two teen-aged sisters had known
much sorrow in their short lives, having lost their parents and all but one of their
brothers and sisters. In this they were joined by a friend their own age, Sally
Allen, the daughter of Capt. Edward and Sarah Allen. Sally had lost her parents,
and would lose many of her bothers and sisters too. In 1825 she made William
Silsbee her attorney for a transaction (ED 247:112). The bond between Sally
Allen and the Hodges sisters was strong, and would last for decades, ending only
with death.

Salem resumed its foreign commerce with great success, but only through the
1820s. By 1840, Salem’s economy had shifted almost completely from maritime
enterprise to manufacturing. There was still an active trade with Zanzibar, but
Salem’s general foreign commerce fell off sharply beginning in 1830. American
goods were now being produced at a level where imports were not so much
needed as in the past, and the interior of the country was being opened for
settlement. People moved west, including some from Salem, and the economic
attention of the merchants turned westward with them.



Salem was chartered as a city in 1836. City Hall was built 1837-8 and the city
seal was adopted in 1839 with a Latin motto of “to the farthest port of the rich
East.” The motto was already outdated, for manufacturing and the railroads now
attracted Salem’s capital, and many of the more notable merchants moved to
Boston, the center of investment in these non-maritime industries. The Eastern
Rail Road began operating between Salem and Boston in 1838. Salem did
engage in some manufacturing—leather, shoes, textiles--but not on the scale of
the factory towns of Lowell, Lawrence, and Haverhill, with their mills driven by
the powerful waters of the Merrimack.

It was in a manufacturing city that the Hodges sisters had their new house
built. Their inheritance came from maritime wealth, but almost all of their
investments were made in manufacturing businesses or banks that made
loans to manufacturers. Among Salem’s industrial enterprises were the
following.

The first capitalized manufacturing enterprise in Salem was the Salem
Laboratory Company, founded in 1819 to produce chemicals. The plant was
situated in north Salem on the North River; blue vitriol was its specialty
throughout the 1800s.

The tanning and curing of leather—once carried on here by the Cheevers--
was a very important industry by the mid-1800s. It was conducted near
Boston Street, along the upper North River. There were 23 tanneries in
1832, 41 in 1844, and 85 in 1850, employing 550 hands. The leather
business continued to grow in importance throughout the 1800s and into the
1900s.

In 1847 the Naumkeag Steam Cotton Company erected its first mill, 400’ by
60°, the largest in the U.S. It was an immediate success, and a second,
larger, building was added in 1859, and a third in 1865. By 1880 the mills
would employ 1200 and produced annually 14,700,000 yards of cloth.

In the 1830s and earlier, shoemaking was conducted by craftsman called
cordwainers, like old Peter Cheever, who made the shoes by hand. In the 1840s,
a new method was introduced: industrial shoe production, employing the factory
system and using high-speed machinery. In Lynn, the factory system was
perfected, and that city became the nation’s leading shoe producer; but Salem had
shoe factories too, and attracted shoe workers from outlying towns and country
areas.



Lead-manufacturing began in the 1820s, and became a large employer after
1830, when Wyman’s gristmills on the Forest River were retooled for
making high-quality white lead and sheet lead. The approach to Marblehead
is still called Lead Mills Hill, although the old buildings burned down in
1960s.

Salem also had an active whale-fishery for many years. In the 1830s candle
manufacturing began at Stage Point, and soon Salem’s sperm-whale-oil
candles were famous. Oils for machinery were also manufactured there.

Somewhat stubbornly, Salem’s waning merchant class pursued their business on
the sea; but soon the conditions of shipping changed, and Salem was left on the
ebb tide. In the late 1840s, giant clipper ships replaced the smaller ships that
Salem men had sailed around the world; and the clippers, with their deep drafts
and large holds, were usually too large for Salem and its harbor. Salem’s
shipping soon consisted of little more than visits from Down East coasters with
cargoes of fuel wood and building timber. By 1850 Salem was finished as a
working port; and its glory days were over. An excellent picture of Salem’s
waterfront, during its period of decline, is given by Hawthorne in his
“introductory section” (really a sketch of Salem) to The Scarlet Letter, which he
began while working in the Custom House and completed at home nearby on
Mall Street.

In 1849 (if not before), Miss Elizabeth Hodges fell ill. The illness proved fatal,
and she died in the spring of 1849, on March 23rd. Her will devised all of her
property to her sister Hannah. Should Hannah not have survived her, some of the
money was to have gone in trust for Miss Sally Allen, with reversion to Miss
Hodges’ six Silsbee nieces and nephews, who were to receive all else. The
inventory of the estate of Miss Elizabeth Hodges was taken on 20 April 1849 and
shows that she owned “1/2 of dwelling house in Salem, $3000,” half the furniture
in the house ($800), and shares in various manufacturing companies, insurance
companies, railroads, and banks. The total value of her personal estate was
$22,230.

In 1850, Miss Hodges did not reside here but her friend Miss Sally Allen did.

In 1850 (per census, house 458) this house was occupied by Sarah Allen, 55, who
was caring for Joseph L. Silsbee, an infant who lived here with her, as did Alice
Flinn, 30 (born in Ireland), Elizabeth Carthin, 50, and Mary Carthin, 14, both
born in Ireland, and Mary Harding, 19. It is not clear which of these others were
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boarders and which domestic helpers. The owner, Miss Hannah Hodges, resided
nearby in the household of merchant George Peabody; she was then 54 years old
(1850 census, house 460). The baby, Joseph Lyman Silsbee, was born on 25
November 1848, the son of Rev. William Silsbee and Charlotte Lyman. Rev.
William (Harvard, 1832), was a son of William Silsbee and Mary Hodges; he had
married Charlotte Lyman and become something of an itinerant preacher in the
1840s and was back in Salem when Joseph (his third child) was born, right after
which Joseph’s mother Charlotte died. The baby was “placed” with Miss Allen,
and Rev. William went off to Cincinnati to teach, and then to Europe, then
settling in Northampton as minister of the Second Congregational Church, 1855-
1863. He finally settled in Trenton, New York. Joseph probably rejoined his
father (who had remarried in 1858) at some point. Joseph went to Harvard and
graduated in 1869. He resided in this house in 1870, when he was studying
architecture in Boston. In 1873 he moved to Syracuse and became an architect;
he married there in 1875 and had at least three children.

On 31 August 1851 Mrs. Mary (Hodges) Silsbee died, and her house was
purchased by her son Bejamin Hodges Silsbee. In 1851, eleven years after the
house was built, Benjamin H. Silsbee, merchant (later President of Merchants
Bank), agreed to sell the land under this house to his aunt Hannah Hodges, and
on 20 Oct. 1851 for $1000 she made the purchase (ED 451:299). She evidently
moved in and resided here, with others, in the 1850s.

In 1860 (census, house 1759) this house was occupied as a two-family. In one
unit lived Hannah Hodges, 66, Sarah L. Allen, 67, and two Irish-born domestic
servants, Hannah Brick, 30, and Mary Ann Brick, 25. In the other lived Sarah
Phillips, 58, Charles Jackson, 28, a lawyer, and an Irish domestic, Mary
Sweeney, 35.

The Civil War began in April, 1861, and went on for four years, during which
hundreds of Salem men served in the army and navy, and many were killed or
died of disease or abusive imprisonment. No doubt Miss Hannah Hodges
contributed to relief efforts to alleviate the suffering of the soldiers, sailors, and
their families.

On 1 November 1864 Mr. B.H. Silsbee and his aunt Miss Hannah Hodges drew
up a privacy agreement, in which Hannah agreed that, as soon as she no longer
resided in her house (whether by death or removal), that any window in her house
that overlooked Mr. Silsbee’s property would be blocked up at her expense or the
expense of the owner of her house (ED 678:112).



In 1870 (house 421) the residents here were Hannah Hodges, 75, Sarah Allen, 76,
Joseph L. Silsbee, 21, a student, Hannah Brick, 40, a servant, and Hannah Shea,
20, a servant.

Miss Hannah Hodges died on 21 April 1871, in her 76™ year of life.

On 8 July 1871 this house and land were sold for $11,500 to John N. Mott, the
husband of Miss Hodges’ youngest niece, Harriet Elizabeth (Silsbee) Mott (ED
829:25). Mr. Mott also purchased, for $300, the right to use the easterly wall of
the Silsbee house as a party wall (ED 829:25). The Motts moved from their
home on Federal Street (#128) to this house, by 1872. Mr. Mott, 66 in 1872, was
born in New York and was a well-to-do retail merchant. He and his wife Harriet
had one child, a daughter named Mary Mott, 12 in 1872. Mr. Mott evidently had
a son by an earlier marriage, John H. Mott, who moved into the 128 Federal
Street house in 1872 (see 1872 Salem Directory; 1870 census, house 185, Ward
Four). John N. Mott did not reside here for long, for he died by July of 1873,
leaving a will in which he probably devised his property to his wife Harriet, with
reversion to daughter Mary.

Mrs. Harriet (Silsbee) Mott owned the property here until her death in 1893,
whereupon it went, evidently, to her daughter, Mrs. Thomas H. (Mary Mott)
Kilduff, of New York City. Mrs. Kilduff owned the homestead, which was
rented out, for 29 years.

During that time occurred the Salem Fire of June 25, 1914, which came up out of
Blubber Hollow (Boston Street at Federal Street) and spread easterly, wiping out
the houses of upper Broad Street, and sweeping through the Mill Pond
neighborhood, then attacking South Salem and destroying scores of homes on
and near Lafayette Street before raging through the tenement district. Despite the
combined efforts of heroic fire crews from many towns and cities, the fire could
not be turned: it smashed into the large factory buildings of the Naumkeag Steam
Cotton Company (Congress Street), which exploded in an inferno; and it rolled
across the water to Derby Street, where the fire was finally halted, near the foot
of the present Hawthorne Boulevard, after a 13-hour rampage. The conflagration
had consumed 250 acres, 1600 houses, and 41 factories, leaving three dead and
thousands homeless. It was one of the greatest urban disasters in the history of
the United States, and the people of Salem would take years to recover from it.
Eventually,
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In May, 1922, Mrs. Mary (Mott) Kilduff sold the house and land here to David
Joyce of Salem (ED 2521:287). It was then bounded southerly by Washington
Square (formerly Brown Street), easterly by Winter Street, northerly by n/f
Vaughan, formerly Johnson, and westerly by Clark formerly Tabernacle Church
Society. Thus ended the ownership of the Hodges-Mott family, which had
continued from 1840 to 1922.

Mr. Joyce evidently rented out the house to tenants, for in 1924 (see Naumkeag
Directory) the occupants here at 35 Washington Square North were James J.
Donovan (and family, if any), and Charles H. Odell and wife Alice (and children
perhaps). Mr. Odell was an insurance man with offices in Salem and another
house in Swampscott.

By the 1920s, Salem was once again a thriving city; and its tercentenary in 1926
was a time of great celebration. From that time forward, Salem boomed right
through to the 1960s, but the arrival of suburban shopping malls and the
relocation of manufacturing businesses took their toll, as they have with many
other cities. More than most, Salem has navigated its way forward into the
present with success, trading on its share of fame arising from the
commercialization of the witchcraft delusion, but also from its great history as an
unrivalled seaport and as the home of Hawthorne and Mclntire. Most of all, it
remains a city where the homes of the old-time merchants, mariners, and mill-
operatives are all honored as a large part of what makes Salem different from any
other place.

Coda.

This spot is a site of the witchcraft delusion of 1692; but that connection had
been forgotten by the 19" century. Where this house now stands, once stood the
house of Ann Poindexter, executed as a witch in 1692.

The antiquarian and historian of Salem, Sidney Perley, Esq., identified the
locations of Salem’s early house-lots and the history of their ownership. In his
article, Salem in 1700, No. 15, which appeared in The Essex Antiquarian, Vol. 8,
1904, he identified this corner lot as the site of the residence of Jacob Poindexter,
a blacksmith, who purchased the corner lot here in 1668 from Thomas Watson
and built the house probably that year.



Note: Jacob’s surname was a tough one for 17"-century scriveners: they wrote it
as Poindester and Poindexter, but also as it was evidently pronounced: Poodeter
(as it is spelled in some of the witchcraft trial records), Pudeator, Pudeater,
Puddater (the last two as in his will, signed with a mark, and his probate), even
Pudding-eater, and in every other possible way (see Essex County Quarterly
Court Records for the 1600s). The name was somehow accepted as “Pudeator”
in the 20" century, but that too is misleading: the “u” sound was not “yew” but
“00,” and the “eator” sound was not “ee-ay-tor” but “eter”. There were evidently
no other Poindexters or Poodeters in Essex County.

Jacob Poindexter (1642-1682) was in Salem by 1666, aged 24, working as a
blacksmith. He married Isabel Mosier in October, 1666. She was troubled and
trouble-making; and she died suddenly in March, 1677. After that, he married
Ann Greenslate, the much-older widow of Thomas Greenslate (also Greenslid),
who had died in 1674. Ann had children John, Thomas, Ruth, Samuel, and
James Greenslate. Her son John (born by 1660) became a glover (glove-maker),
and purchased a small house and land on Winter Street (formerly the house of old
Thomas Watson) from his step-father, Jacob Poindexter, in 1681. Her son
Thomas Greenslate also lived in Salem.

Jacob Poindexter died in November 1682, having willed all of his property to his
wife Ann for her “natural life.” He also forgave a debt from his step-son John
Greenslate (also, Greenslid). After Ann’s death, four of her children were each to
receive 5 li, and the rest was to go to Jacob’s cousin, Isaac Puddeter. His estate
was a valuable one, and included “two dwelling houses, one barn, & shop, with
about three acres of land and an orchard in it,” worth 210 li, along with his
blacksmith’s tools, two cows and 7 swine, “barley, gardens tuff, and stalks,” corn
and beans, clothes, furniture, molasses, a gun, lumber, and debts due from
Samuel Very, Ensign Bancroft, John Bliffen, Jacob Barney, Rice Edwards, and
Coker William Dodge. The estate’s total assets came to about 278 1i, against
debts of about 93 Ii.

Afier Jacob’s death, Ann lived here for another ten years, a widow, with grown
children and grand-children nearby. She was evidently peaceable enough, for
there is no court record that describes her involvement in any trouble. She was
arrested as a witch in the spring of 1692, when she was about seventy. She was
accused of making images of afflicted girls, bringing them the Devil’s book to
sign, etc. Lt. Jeremiah Neal suspected her of bewitching his wife, whom she had
come to visit, “pretending kindness,” when Goody Neal was ill of smallpox.
Samuel Pickworth testified that he was walking near her house, and she “passed
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by me as swift as if a bird flew by me.” John Best said that Ann had bewitched
his wife, who had died. John Best Jr. said that Ann had “chided” him for driving
her cow back when he was herding his family’s cows; and from this he had
concluded that she was a witch. Others, whom she had never met, claimed that
her apparition tormented them.

After being found guilty, Ann addressed the court. “That whereas your poor and
humble petitioner, being condemned to die, and knowing in my own conscience
that I shall shortly answer it before the great God of Heaven, who is the searcher
and knower of all hearts, (states) that the evidence of the Bests (John and John
Jr.) and Samuel Pickworth ... were all of them altogether false and untrue, and,
besides, John Best hath been formerly whipped and likewise is recorded for a
liar. I would humbly beg of your honors to take it into your judicious and pious
consideration that my life may not be taken away by such false evidence and
witnesses as these be. Likewise, the evidence given in against me by Sarah
Churchill and Mary Warren I am altogether ignorant of and know nothing in the
least measure about it nor nothing else concerning the crime of witchcraft for
which I am condemned to die, as will be known to men and angels at the great
day of judgment. Begging and imploring your prayers at the throne of grace in
my behalf; and your poor and humble petitioner shall forever pray, as she is
bound in duty, for your honors’ health and happiness in this life and eternal
felicity in the world to come.”

It may be imagined that her children worked hard to have her freed; and they (or
someone) succeeded, for—evidently—the authorities released her. She should
have followed the lead of the Philip Englishes and other Salem families, and fled
out of the colony; but she was (of course) innocent, and she thought herself safe
enough in staying here. But the constables came for her and she was arrested
again, and on 22 Sept. 1692 she was executed by hanging at Gallows Hill, along
with Samuel Wardwell, Martha Corey, Alice Parker, Mary Parker, Mary Easty,
Margaret Scott, and Wilmot Redd. Right after the executions, Ann’s minister,
Rev. Nicholas Noyes, was heard to say, “What a sad thing it is, to see eight
firebrands of hell hanging there.”

The homestead here thereupon descended to Isaac Poindexter (per Jacob’s will);
and William Browne, a merchant, owned it by 1700. Perley says that the house
was gone by 1713. If so, the site had been empty for more than 50 years when
Samuel Cheever came along and built a new house in 1769.

--5 May 2001, Robert Booth for Historic Salem Inc.
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Glossary

#1234 refers to probate case 1234, Essex County probate

ED 123:45 refers to book 123, page 45, Essex South Registry of Deeds
Salem Directory refers to the published Salem resident directories

Census refers to census records, taken house-by-house with occupants listed.
EIHC refers to Essex Institute Historical Collections ;
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